

## Mohammad H. Sadraey

# Unmanned Aircraft Design A Review of Fundamentals

Second Edition



## Synthesis Lectures on Mechanical Engineering

This series publishes short books in mechanical engineering (ME), the engineering branch that combines engineering, physics and mathematics principles with materials science to design, analyze, manufacture, and maintain mechanical systems. It involves the production and usage of heat and mechanical power for the design, production and operation of machines and tools. This series publishes within all areas of ME and follows the ASME technical division categories.

Mohammad H. Sadraey

# Unmanned Aircraft Design

### A Review of Fundamentals

Second Edition



Mohammad H. Sadraey School of Engineering, Technology, and Aeronautics Southern New Hampshire University Manchester, NH, USA

ISSN 2573-3168 ISSN 2573-3176 (electronic) Synthesis Lectures on Mechanical Engineering ISBN 978-3-031-67794-6 ISBN 978-3-031-67795-3 (eBook) https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-67795-3

1<sup>st</sup> edition: © Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2022 2<sup>nd</sup> edition: © The Editor(s) (if applicable) and The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2025

This work is subject to copyright. All rights are solely and exclusively licensed by the Publisher, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilms or in any other physical way, and transmission or information storage and retrieval, electronic adaptation, computer software, or by similar or dissimilar methodology now known or hereafter developed.

The use of general descriptive names, registered names, trademarks, service marks, etc. in this publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant protective laws and regulations and therefore free for general use.

The publisher, the authors and the editors are safe to assume that the advice and information in this book are believed to be true and accurate at the date of publication. Neither the publisher nor the authors or the editors give a warranty, expressed or implied, with respect to the material contained herein or for any errors or omissions that may have been made. The publisher remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

This Springer imprint is published by the registered company Springer Nature Switzerland AG The registered company address is: Gewerbestrasse 11, 6330 Cham, Switzerland

If disposing of this product, please recycle the paper.



NASA Global Hawk

#### Preface

The Unmanned Aerial Vehicle (UAV) is a remotely piloted or self-piloted aircraft that can carry cameras, reconnaissance sensors, missiles, or other payloads. All flight operations (including take-off and landing) are performed without on-board human pilot. These diverse systems range in cost from a few hundred dollars to tens of millions of dollars. Range in capability from micro air vehicles weighing much less than a pound to aircraft weighing over 40,000 pounds. The design of manned aircraft and the design of UAVs have some similarities and some differences. They include: 1. Design process, 2. Constraints, and 3. UAV main components. A UAV designer must own technical/engineering skills and be aware of a. Latest UAV developments, b. Current technologies, c. Know lessons learned from past successes and failures, and d. Designer should appreciate the breadth of UAV design options.

A design process requires both integration and iteration. A design process includes: 1. Synthesis: the creative process of putting known things together into new and more useful combinations. 2. Analysis: the process of predicting the performance or behavior of a design candidate. 3. Evaluation: the process of performance calculation and comparing the predicted performance of each feasible design candidate to determine the deficiencies. A designer needs to know how to integrate complex, multi-disciplinary systems and to understand the environment, the requirements, and the design challenges.

In the second edition, three new topics of air vehicle aerodynamic design, structural design, and propulsion system design were added, while the topic of guidance system was removed. Many sections have completely been revised and further exposed, multiple new topics are introduced, and many new techniques and products are added. The objective of this book is to review the design fundamentals of Unmanned Aerial Vehicles and their related systems.

It will have 12 Chapters. Chapter 1 covers design fundamentals and design disciplines. This chapter covers UAV classifications, design project planning, decision making, feasibility analysis, systems engineering approach, design groups, design phases, design reviews, evaluation, and feedback. In Chap. 3, preliminary design is discussed which covers conceptual design and initial sizing. Air vehicle aerodynamic design, structural design, and propulsion system design are reviewed in Chaps. 4, 5, and 12, respectively. Chapter 2 is dedicated to the payload selection and design. Topics include measurement devices, antennas, radar, civil payloads, military payloads, disposable payloads, imagery equipment, payload handling, payload management, and payload-structure integration.

Chapters 6–10 are dedicated to the autopilot design. It covers dynamic modeling, control system design, navigation system design, and microcontroller. This part will discuss the topics such as aircraft aerodynamic forces and moments, stability and control derivatives, transfer function model, state-space model, aircraft dynamics, linearization, fundamentals of control systems control laws, conventional design techniques, PID control, optimal control, robust control, digital control, stability augmentation, coordinate systems, inertial navigation, way-point navigation, sensors, actuators, avionics, gyroscopes, GPS, navigation laws, flight path stabilization, turn coordination, command systems, modules/components, flight software, commercial autopilots, software developing, software languages, control surfaces design, integration, and full autonomy. A few advanced topics such as detect (i.e., sense)-and-avoid, automated recovery, fault monitoring, intelligent flight planning, artificial intelligence, and manned-unmanned teaming will also be reviewed in these chapters.

In Chaps. 10 and 11, equipment design is presented which includes ground control station, communications systems, and launch and recovery systems. The following topics are discussed in these two chapters: ground element types, portable ground station, mission control elements, remote control personnel, support equipment, transportation, coordination, hardware and software, radio frequencies, elements of communications system, communication techniques, transmitters, receivers, telemetry, conventional launch, rail launchers, hand launch, air launch, and recovery systems. Due to the limited length of this book, many topics are reviewed in brief, but more details are provided on the design process and flowchart. Unattributed figures are held in the public domain and are from either the US Government Departments or Wikipedia.

Manchester, USA May 2024 Mohammad H. Sadraey

#### Contents

1	Design	Fundamentals	1				
	1.1	Introduction	1				
	1.2	Design Project Planning	3				
	1.3	Decision Making	4				
	1.4	Design Criteria, Objectives and Priorities	4				
	1.5	Feasibility Analysis	7				
	1.6	Design Groups	7				
	1.7	Design Process	8				
	1.8	Systems Engineering Approach	9				
	1.9	Conceptual Design       12         Preliminary Design       13					
	1.10	Preliminary Design					
	1.11	Detail Design	15				
	1.12	Design Review, Evaluation, and Feedback	17				
	1.13	Questions	18				
2	Payloa	ds Selection/Design	19				
	2.1	Introduction	19				
	2.2	Payload Definition	1          3          4          4          7          7          8          9          12          13          15          17          18          19          20          21          22          23          25          27          29          30          31				
	2.3	Systems Engineering Approach9Conceptual Design12Preliminary Design13Detail Design15Design Review, Evaluation, and Feedback17Questions18ds Selection/Design19Introduction19Payload Definition20Cargo or Freight Payload21Reconnaissance/Surveillance Payload222.4.1Camera232.4.2Radar25Scientific Payloads27Military Payloads27Payload Installation292.7.1Payload Location					
	2.4	Reconnaissance/Surveillance Payload	22				
		2.4.1 Camera	23				
		2.4.2 Radar	25				
	2.5	.2    Radar    2      ientific Payloads    2					
	2.6	Military Payloads					
	2.7	Payload Installation	29				
		2.7.1 Payload Location	29				
		2.7.2 Payload Aerodynamics	30				
		2.7.3 Payload-Structure Integration	31				

		2.7.4 Payload Stabilization	31
	2.8	Payload Control and Management	32
	2.9	Payload Selection/Design Considerations	33
	2.10	Questions	34
	2.11	Problems	35
3	Prelin	ninary Design	37
•	3.1	Introduction	37
	3.2	UAVs Classification	38
	3.3	Conceptual Design	41
		3.3.1 Fixed-Wing UAVs	44
		3.3.2 Rotary-Wing UAVs	46
	3.4	Initial Sizing	48
	3.5	Maximum Take-Off Weight Estimation—UAVs with Fuel	
		Burning Engine(s)	48
	3.6	Maximum Take-Off Weight Estimation—UAVs with Electric	
		Engine(s)	50
	3.7	Wing and Engine Sizing	51
	3.8	Questions	54
4	Aerod	lynamic Design	57
	4.1	Introduction	57
		Fundamentals of Aerodynamics	58
	4.2	I undamentals of Aerodynamics	50
	4.2 4.3	Wing Design	59
	4.2 4.3 4.4	Wing Design         Tail Design	59 62
	4.2 4.3 4.4	Wing Design         Tail Design         4.4.1         Horizontal Tail Design	59 62 63
	4.2 4.3 4.4	Wing Design         Tail Design         4.4.1         Horizontal Tail Design         4.4.2         Vertical Tail Design	59 62 63 64
	<ul><li>4.2</li><li>4.3</li><li>4.4</li><li>4.5</li></ul>	Wing Design         Tail Design         4.4.1         Horizontal Tail Design         4.4.2         Vertical Tail Design         Fuselage Design	<ul> <li>59</li> <li>62</li> <li>63</li> <li>64</li> <li>65</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>4.2</li> <li>4.3</li> <li>4.4</li> <li>4.5</li> <li>4.6</li> </ul>	Wing Design         Tail Design         4.4.1         Horizontal Tail Design         4.4.2         Vertical Tail Design         Fuselage Design         More on Design Details	<ul> <li>50</li> <li>59</li> <li>62</li> <li>63</li> <li>64</li> <li>65</li> <li>67</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>4.2</li> <li>4.3</li> <li>4.4</li> <li>4.5</li> <li>4.6</li> <li>4.7</li> </ul>	Wing DesignTail Design4.4.1Horizontal Tail Design4.4.2Vertical Tail DesignFuselage DesignMore on Design DetailsQuestions	<ul> <li>50</li> <li>59</li> <li>62</li> <li>63</li> <li>64</li> <li>65</li> <li>67</li> <li>67</li> </ul>
5	4.2 4.3 4.4 4.5 4.6 4.7 <b>Struct</b>	Wing Design         Tail Design         4.4.1         Horizontal Tail Design         4.4.2         Vertical Tail Design         Fuselage Design         More on Design Details         Questions	<ul> <li>50</li> <li>59</li> <li>62</li> <li>63</li> <li>64</li> <li>65</li> <li>67</li> <li>67</li> <li>67</li> <li>69</li> </ul>
5	4.2 4.3 4.4 4.5 4.6 4.7 <b>Struct</b> 5.1	Wing Design         Tail Design         4.4.1         Horizontal Tail Design         4.4.2         Vertical Tail Design         Fuselage Design         More on Design Details         Questions         Introduction	<ul> <li>50</li> <li>59</li> <li>62</li> <li>63</li> <li>64</li> <li>65</li> <li>67</li> <li>67</li> <li>69</li> <li>69</li> </ul>
5	4.2 4.3 4.4 4.5 4.6 4.7 <b>Struct</b> 5.1 5.2	Wing Design         Tail Design         4.4.1         Horizontal Tail Design         4.4.2         Vertical Tail Design         Fuselage Design         More on Design Details         Questions         tural Design         Flight Loads	<ul> <li>58</li> <li>59</li> <li>62</li> <li>63</li> <li>64</li> <li>65</li> <li>67</li> <li>67</li> <li>67</li> <li>69</li> <li>69</li> <li>70</li> </ul>
5	4.2 4.3 4.4 4.5 4.6 4.7 <b>Struct</b> 5.1 5.2 5.3	Wing Design         Tail Design         4.4.1         Horizontal Tail Design         4.4.2         Vertical Tail Design         Fuselage Design         More on Design Details         Questions         tural Design         Introduction         Flight Loads         Structural Members	<ul> <li>50</li> <li>59</li> <li>62</li> <li>63</li> <li>64</li> <li>65</li> <li>67</li> <li>67</li> <li>67</li> <li>69</li> <li>69</li> <li>70</li> <li>71</li> </ul>
5	4.2 4.3 4.4 4.5 4.6 4.7 <b>Struct</b> 5.1 5.2 5.3 5.4	Wing Design         Tail Design         4.4.1         Horizontal Tail Design         4.4.2         Vertical Tail Design         Fuselage Design         More on Design Details         Questions         tural Design         Introduction         Flight Loads         Structural Members         Structural Materials	<ul> <li>50</li> <li>59</li> <li>62</li> <li>63</li> <li>64</li> <li>65</li> <li>67</li> <li>67</li> <li>69</li> <li>69</li> <li>70</li> <li>71</li> <li>72</li> </ul>
5	4.2 4.3 4.4 4.5 4.6 4.7 <b>Struct</b> 5.1 5.2 5.3 5.4 5.5	Wing Design         Tail Design         4.4.1         Horizontal Tail Design         4.4.2         Vertical Tail Design         Fuselage Design         More on Design Details         Questions         tural Design         Introduction         Flight Loads         Structural Members         Structural Materials         Construction	<ul> <li>50</li> <li>59</li> <li>62</li> <li>63</li> <li>64</li> <li>65</li> <li>67</li> <li>67</li> <li>69</li> <li>69</li> <li>70</li> <li>71</li> <li>72</li> <li>73</li> </ul>
5	4.2 4.3 4.4 4.5 4.6 4.7 <b>Struct</b> 5.1 5.2 5.3 5.4 5.5 5.6	Wing Design         Tail Design         4.4.1         Horizontal Tail Design         4.4.2         Vertical Tail Design         Fuselage Design         More on Design Details         Questions         tural Design         Introduction         Flight Loads         Structural Members         Structural Design Process	<ul> <li>50</li> <li>59</li> <li>62</li> <li>63</li> <li>64</li> <li>65</li> <li>67</li> <li>67</li> <li>69</li> <li>69</li> <li>70</li> <li>71</li> <li>72</li> <li>73</li> <li>74</li> </ul>

6	Funda	amentals of Autopilot	79				
	6.1	Introduction	79				
	6.2	Primary Subsystems of an Autopilot					
	6.3	Dynamic Modeling					
	6.4	UAV Dynamics	84				
		6.4.1 Longitudinal	84				
		6.4.2 Lateral-Directional	85				
	6.5	Aerodynamic Forces and Moments	85				
	6.6	Stability and Control Derivatives	86				
	6.7	Transfer Function					
	6.8	State-Space Model 8					
	6.9	Linearization					
	6.10	Autopilot Design Process	91				
	6.11	Questions	91				
7	Contr	ol System Design	93				
	7.1	Introduction	93				
	7.2	Fundamentals of Control Systems					
	7.3	UAV Control Architecture					
		7.3.1 Control Categories	<b>98</b>				
		7.3.2 Cruise Control	100				
	7.4	Flight Control Requirements					
		7.4.1 Longitudinal Control Requirements	102				
		7.4.2 Roll Control Requirements	102				
		7.4.3 Directional Control Requirements	103				
	7.5	PID Controller	104				
	7.6	Optimal Control—Linear Quadratic Regulator 1					
	7.7	Robust Control					
	7.8	Digital Control 1					
	7.9	Control Surfaces Design 1					
	7.10	Stability Augmentation 1					
	7.11	Autonomy	116				
		7.11.1 Classification	117				
		7.11.2 Detect (I.E., Sense)-And-Avoid	119				
		7.11.3 Automated Recovery	120				

		7.11.4 Fault Monitoring	121				
		7.11.5 Intelligent Flight Planning	121				
		7.11.6 Return to Home	122				
		7.11.7 Manned-Unmanned Teaming	122				
		7.11.8 Artificial Intelligence	124				
	7.12	Mechanical/Power Transmission Systems Design	125				
	7.13	Control System Design Process	126				
	7.14	Questions	129				
	7.15	Problems	130				
8	Navig	ation System Design	133				
	8.1	Introduction	133				
	8.2	Coordinate Systems	134				
	8.3	Inertial Navigation System	135				
	8.4	Global Positioning System	137				
	8.5	Position Fixing Navigation	139				
		8.5.1 Map Reading	139				
		8.5.2 Celestial Navigation	140				
	8.6	Inertial Navigation Sensors	140				
		8.6.1 Accelerometer	141				
		8.6.2 Gyroscope	142				
		8.6.3 Airspeed Sensor	145				
		8.6.4 Altitude Sensor	146				
		8.6.5 Sensor Data Filtering	147				
	8.7	Navigation System Design Process 14					
	8.8	Questions	149				
9	Micro	ocontroller Boards	151				
	9.1	Introduction	151				
	9.2	Basic Fundamentals					
	9.3	Modules/Components 1:					
	9.4	Flight Software	158				
		9.4.1 Software Development	158				
		9.4.2 Operating Systems	158				
		9.4.3 Management Software	159				
		9.4.4 Microcontroller Programing	160				
		9.4.5 Software Integration	161				
		9.4.6 C Language	162				
		9.4.7 Compiler	163				
		9.4.8 Debugging	163				

	9.5	Open-Source Single-Board Microcontrollers 16				
		9.5.1 Arduino	164			
		9.5.2 ArduPilot	164			
		9.5.3 Lumenier	165			
		9.5.4 Raspberry Pi	165			
		9.5.5 Pixhawk CubePilot	166			
	9.6	Design Procedure	167			
	9.7	Questions	168			
10	Groun	d Control Stations	171			
	10.1	Introduction	171			
	10.2	GCS Subsystems	173			
	10.3	Ergonomics	173			
	10.4	Types of Ground Stations	176			
		10.4.1 Handheld Controller	176			
		10.4.2 Portable GCS	177			
		10.4.3 Van and Truck	178			
		10.4.4 Central Command Station	179			
	10.5	Communications System	181			
	10.6	Design Process	186			
	10.7	Questions	188			
11	Laune	h and Recovery Systems	191			
••	11.1	Introduction	191			
	11.2	Launcher Equipment	192			
	11.3	Fundamentals of Launch	193			
	11.4	Air Launch	195			
	11.5	Hand Launch	196			
	11.6	Recovery Techniques	197			
	11.7	Recovery Fundamentals	199			
		11.7.1 Parachute	199			
		11.7.2 Impact Recovery	200			
	11.8	Launch and Recovery Systems Design	201			
		11.8.1 Launch System Design Process	201			
		11.8.2 Recovery System Design Process	203			
	11.9	Questions	204			
	11.10	Problems	204			

12	Propul	ulsion System Design			
	12.1	Introduction	207		
	12.2 Engines Classification				
	12.3	3 Selection of Engine Type			
	12.4 Number of Engines				
12.5 Engine Location		212			
		12.5.1 Fixed-Wing	213		
		12.5.2 Rotary-Wing	213		
		12.5.3 Hybrid Configuration	215		
	12.6	Propeller Sizing	216		
<ul><li>12.7 Engine Selection</li><li>12.8 Propulsion System Design Process</li></ul>		Engine Selection	217		
		Propulsion System Design Process	217		
	12.9	Questions	218		
Ref	erences		221		

#### **Design Fundamentals**

#### 1.1 Introduction

The Unmanned Aerial Vehicle (UAV) or pilotless or uninhabited/uncrewed aircraft is a remotely piloted vehicle (RPV) or self-piloted aircraft that can carry payloads such as cameras, sensors, and communications equipment. All flight operations (including take-off and landing) are performed without on-board human pilot. In some reports of DOD, Unmanned Aerial System (UAS) is preferred. In media reports, the term "drone", flying robot, or aerial robot are utilized. The UAV mission is to perform critical flight operations without risk to personnel and more cost effectively than comparable manned system. A civilian UAV is designed to perform a particular mission at a lower cost or impact than a manned aircraft equivalent.

UAV design is essentially a branch of engineering design. Design is primarily an analytical process which is usually accompanied by drawing/drafting. Design contains its own body of knowledge that is independent of the science-based analysis tools that is usually coupled with it. Design is a more advanced version of a problem-solving technique that many people use routinely.

Research in unmanned aerial vehicles (UAVs) has grown in interest over the past couple decades. There has been tremendous emphasis in unmanned aerial vehicles, both of fixed and rotary wing types over the past decades. Historically, UAVs were designed to maximize endurance and range, but demands for UAV designs have changed in recent years. Applications span both civilian and military domains, the latter being the more important at this stage. Early statements about performance, operation cost, and manufacturability are highly desirable already early during the design process. Individual technical requirements have been satisfied in various prototype, demonstrator and initial production programs like Reaper, Global Hawk and other international programs. The possible break-through of UAV technology requires support from the aforementioned

1



awareness of general UAV design requirements and their consequences on cost, operation and performance of UAV systems.

In June of 2016, the Department of Transportation's Federal Aviation Administration has finalized the first operational rules for routine commercial use of small unmanned aircraft systems [27], opening pathways towards fully integrating UAS into the nation's airspace. These new regulations aim to harness new innovations safely, to spur job growth, advance critical scientific research and save lives. Moreover, in June of 2017, European Commission has released a blueprint for UAV standards which will "unify laws across the EU" by creating a common low-level airspace called the U-space that covers altitudes of up to 150 m.

The design principles for UAV's are similar to the principles developed over the years and used successfully for the design of manned UAV. The size of UAV varies according to the purpose of their utility. In many cases the design and constructions of UAV's faces new challenges and, as a result of these new requirements, several recent works are concerned with the design of innovative UAV's. Autonomous vehicle technologies for small and large fixed-wing UAVs are being developed by various startups and established corporations such as Lockheed Martin. A number of conceptual design techniques, preliminary design methodologies, and optimization has been applied to the design of various UAVs including Medium Altitude Long Endurance (MALE) UAV using multi objective genetic algorithm.

The first UAV designs that appeared in the early nineties were based on the general design principles for full UAV and findings of experimental investigations. The main limitation of civil UAV's is often low cost. An important area of UAV technology is the design of autonomous systems. The tremendous increase of computing power in the last three decades and developments of general-purpose reliable software packages made possible the use of full configuration design software packages for the design, evaluation, and optimization of modern UAV.

The oldest US military UAV, the MQ-5 Hunter was retired [56] in 2015, following 22 years of service by the U.S. Army. It was replaced by General Atomics MQ-1C Gray Eagle, a larger UAV that can fly for up to 24 h, at altitudes of 29,000 feet, and with a maximum speed of 190 mph. In 2023, around 1,500 drones lit up the night sky over the Chinese city of Shenzhen with imagery of a flying dragon to mark the start of the country's Dragon Boat Festival.

UAVs are air vehicles; they fly like airplanes and operate in an airplane environment. They are designed like air vehicles. They have to meet flight critical air vehicle requirements. You need to know how to integrate complex, multi-disciplinary systems and understand the environment, the requirements and the design challenges.

A UAV system is much more than a reusable air vehicle or vehicles. The UAV system includes five basic elements: 1. The Environment in which the UAV(s) operates, 2. Aerial vehicle, 3. Control station, 4. Payload, and 5. Maintenance and support system.

The design of manned UAV and the design of UAVs have some similarities; and some differences such as: design process; constraints (e.g., g-load, pressurization); and UAV

main components (Autopilot, ground station, communication system, sensors, payload). A UAV designer must be aware of 1. Latest UAV developments; 2. Current technologies; 3. Know lessons learned from past failures. Designer should appreciate breadth of UAV design options.

Every year, R&D in various aspects of UAS are attracting billions of dollars and generates new technologies and frontiers. The future sixth-generation fighter jets are expected to include new technologies ranging from AI and cutting-edge adaptive engines to more digital components and teaming with multiple autonomous UAVs flying alongside its wings.

In 2023, Amazon [56] has applied for a patent for a "collective" UAV, with multiple small UAVs teaming together to form a collective to carry and deliver larger and heavier packages. Moreover, the Osprey MK III, made its first autonomous test flight [56], to prove a capability to safely and quickly test novel autonomy and AI on small UAS that is safe enough to be in close proximity to other aircraft. This was a start and demonstration of a testbed by the Air Force research lab.

In this chapter, definitions; design process; UAV classifications; current UAVs; and challenges; will be covered. In addition, conceptual design, preliminary design and detail design of an UAV based on systems engineering approach are introduced. In each stage, application of this approach is described by presenting the design flow chart and practical steps of design.

#### 1.2 Design Project Planning

In order for a design project schedule to be effective, it is necessary to have some procedures for monitoring progress; and in a broader sense for encouraging personnel to progress. An effective general form of project management control device is the Gantt chart is. It presents a project overview which is almost immediately understandable to non-systems personnel; hence it has great value as a means of informing management of project status. A Gantt chart has three main features:

- 1. It informs the manager and chief designer of what tasks are assigned and who has been assigned to them.
- 2. It indicated the estimated dates on which tasks are assumed to start and end, and it represents graphically the estimated ration of the task.
- 3. It indicates the actual dates on which tasks were started and completed and pictures this information.

Like many other planning/management tools, Gantt charts provide the manager/chief designer with an early warning if some jobs will not be completed on schedule and/

or if others are ahead of schedule. Gantt charts are also helpful in that they present graphically immediate feedback regarding estimates of personnel skill and job complexity. A Gantt chart provides the chief designer with a scheduling method and enables him/her to rapidly track and assess the design activities on a weekly/monthly basis. An aircraft project such as the Global Hawk will not be successful without a design project planning.

#### 1.3 Decision Making

Not every design parameter is the outcome of a mathematical/technical calculations. There are UAV parameters which are determined through a selection process. In such cases, the designer should be aware of the decision-making procedures. The main challenge in decision making is that there are usually multiple criteria along with a risk associated with each one. Any engineering selection must be supported by logical and scientific reasoning and analysis. The main challenge in decision making is that there are usually multiple criteria along with a risk associated with each one. There are usually multiple criteria along with a risk associated with each one. There are no straight forward governing equations to be solved mathematically.

A designer must recognize the importance of making the best decision and the adverse of consequence of making the poorest decision. In majority of the design cases, the best decision is the right decision, and the poorest decision is the wrong one. The right decision implies the design success, and the wrong decision results in a fail in the design. As the level of design problem complexity and sophistication increases in a particular situation, a more sophisticated approach is needed.

#### 1.4 Design Criteria, Objectives and Priorities

One of the preliminary tasks in UAV configuration design is identifying system design considerations. The definition of a need at the system level is the starting point for determining customer requirements and developing design criteria. The requirements for the system as an entity are established by describing the functions that must be performed. Design criteria constitute a set of "design-to" requirements, which can be expressed in both qualitative and quantitative terms. Design criteria are customer specified or negotiated target values for technical performance measures. These requirements represent the bounds within which the designer must "operate" when engaged in the iterative process of synthesis, analysis, and evaluation. Both operational functions (i.e. those required to accomplish a specific mission scenario, or series of missions) and maintenance and support functions (i.e. those required to ensure that the UAV is operational when required) must be described at the top level.

Various UAV designer have different priorities in their design processes. These priorities are based on different objectives, requirements and mission. There are primarily three

No	Objective	Basis for measurement	Criterion	Units
1	Inexpensive in market	Unit manufacturing cost	nit manufacturing cost Manufacturing cost I	
2	Inexpensive in operation	Fuel consumption per km	Fuel consumption per km Operating cost J	
3	Light weight	Total weight	Weight	Ν
4	Small size	Geometry	Dimensions	m
5	Fast         Speed of operation         Performance		Performance	km/hr
6	Maintainable Man-hour to maintain Maintainability		Man-hour	
7	Producible Required technology for Manufacturability manufacturing		-	
8	Recyclable	Amount of hazardous or non-recyclable materials	Disposability	kg
9	Maneuverable	Turn radius; turn rate	Maneuverability	m
10	Detect and avoid	Navigation sensors	Guidance and control	-
11	Airworthiness	Safety standards	Safety	-
12	Autonomy	Autopilot complexity	Crashworthiness/ formation flight	-

Table 1.1 Design objectives

groups of UAV designers, namely: 1. military UAV designer, 2. civil UAV designer, 3. homebuilt UAV designer. These three groups of designers have different interests, priorities, and design criteria. There are mainly ten figures of merit for every UAV configuration designer. They are production cost, UAV performance, flying qualities, design period, beauty (for civil UAV) or scariness (for military UAV), maintainability, producibility, UAV weight, disposability, and stealth requirement. Table 1.1 demonstrates objectives and priorities of each UAV designer against some figures of merit.

In design evaluation, an early step that fully recognizes design criteria is to establish a baseline against which a given alternative or design configuration may be evaluated. This baseline is determined through the iterative process of requirements analysis (i.e. identification of needs, analysis of feasibility, definition of UAV operational requirements, selection of a maintenance concept, and planning for phase-out and disposal). The mission that the UAV must perform to satisfy a specific customer should be described, along with expectations for cycle time, frequency, speed, cost, effectiveness, and other relevant factors. Functional requirements must be met by incorporating design characteristics within the UAV and its configuration components.

As an example, Table 1.2 illustrates three scenarios of priorities (in percent) for military UAV designers. Among ten figures of merit (or criteria), grade "1" is the highest priority and grade "10" is the lowest priority. The grade "0" in this table means that, this figure of merit is not a criterion for this designer. Number one priority for a military UAV

No	Figure of Merit	Priority	Designer # 1	Designer # 2	Designer # 3
1	Cost	4	8	9	9
2	Performance	1	50	40	30
3	Autonomy	2	10	15	20
4	Period of design	5	7	7	8
5	Scariness	10	1	1	2
6	Maintainability	7	4	5	5
7	Producibility	6	6	6	7
8	Weight	8	3	4	4
9	Disposability	9	2	2	3
10	Stealth	3	9	11	12
		Total	100%	100%	100%

Table 1.2 Three scenarios of priorities (in percent) for a military UAV designer

designer is UAV performance, while for a homebuilt UAV designer cost is the number one priority. It is also interesting that stealth capability is an important priority for a military UAV designer, while for other three groups of designers, it is not important at all. These priorities (later called weights) reflect the relative importance of the individual figure of merit in the mind of the designer.

Design criteria may be established for each level in the system hierarchical structure. The optimization objectives must be formulated in order to determine the optimum design. A selected UAV configuration would be optimum based on only one optimization function. Applicable criteria regarding the UAV should be expressed in terms of technical performance measures and should be prioritized at the UAV (system) level. Technical performance measures are measures for characteristics that are, or derive from, attributes inherent in the design itself. It is essential that the development of design criteria be based on an appropriate set of design considerations, considerations that lead to the identification of both design-dependent and design-independent parameters, and that support the derivation of technical performance measures.

The UAV cost is so important, that a high-cost design and production could end up with a broken UAV industry. For instance, in 2021, the Chinese UAV manufacturer DJI with introducing low-cost UAVs such as Phantom and Mini was able to capture 70% of the US market (by defeating mass-market American-produced multirotor manufacturer 3DR).

#### 1.5 Feasibility Analysis

In the early stages of design and by employing brainstorming, a few promising concepts are suggested which seems consistent with the scheduling and available resources. Prior to committing resources and personnel to the detail design phase, an important design activity; feasibility analysis; must be performed. There are a number of phases through which the system design and development process must invariably pass. Foremost among them is the identification of the customer-related need and, from that need, the determination of what the system is to do. This is followed by a feasibility study to discover potential technical solution, and the determination of system requirements.

It is at this early stage in the life cycle that major decisions are made relative to adapting a specific design approach and technology application, which has a great impact on the life-cycle cost of a product. In this phase, the designer addresses the fundamental question of whether to proceed with the selected concept. It is evident that there is no benefit or future in spending any more time and resource attempting to achieve an unrealistic objective. Some revolutionary concepts initially seem attractable, but when it comes to the reality, it is found to be too imaginary. Feasibility study distinguishes between a creative design concept and an imaginary idea. Feasibility evaluation determines the degree to which each concept alternative satisfies design criteria.

In this phase, the designer addresses the fundamental question of whether to proceed with the selected concept. Feasibility study distinguishes between a creative design concept and an imaginary idea. Feasibility evaluation determines the degree to which each concept alternative satisfies design criteria.

In the feasibility analysis, the answers to the following two questions are sought: 1. Are the goals achievable?; or are the objectives realistic?; or are the design requirements meetable? 2. Is the current design concept feasible? If the answer to the first question is no, the design goal and objectives, and design requirements must be changed. Hence, no matter where is the source of design requirements; either direct customer order or market analysis; they must be changed.

#### 1.6 Design Groups

An aircraft chief designer should be capable of covering and handling a broad spectrum of activities. Thus, an aircraft chief designer should have years of experiences, be knowledgeable of management techniques, and preferably have full expertise and background in the area of "flight dynamics". The chief designer has a great responsibility in planning, coordination, and conducting formal design reviews. He/she must also monitor and review aircraft system test and evaluation activities, as well as coordinating all formal design changes and modifications for improvement. The organization must be such that facilitate the flow of information and technical data among various design departments. The design



Fig. 1.1 UAV main design groups

organization must allow the chief designer to initiate and establish the necessary ongoing liaison activities throughout the design cycle.

A primary building block is organizational patterns is the functional approach, which involves the grouping of functional specialties or disciplines into separately identifiable entities. The intent is to perform similar work within one organizational group. Thus, the same organizational group will accomplish the same type of work for all ongoing projects on a concurrent basis. The ultimate objective is to establish a team approach, with the appropriate communications, enabling the application of concurrent engineering methods throughout.

There are mainly two approaches to handle the design activities and establishing design groups: 1. Design groups based on aircraft components, 2. Design groups based on expertise. If the approach of groups based on aircraft components is selected, the chief designer must establish the following teams: 1. Wing design team, 2. tail design team, 3. Fuselage design team, 4. Propulsion system design team, 5. Landing gear design team, 6. Autopilot design team, 7. Ground station design team, 8. Launch & recovery design team. The ninth team is established for documentation and drafting. There are various advantages and disadvantages for each of the two planning approaches in terms of ease of management, speed of communication, efficiency, and similarity of tasks. However, if the project is large such as the design of a large transport aircraft, both groupings (Fig. 1.1) could be applied simultaneously.

#### 1.7 Design Process

UAV Design is an iterative process which involves synthesis, analysis, and evaluation. Figure 1.2 demonstrates the design process block diagram. Design (i.e., Synthesis) is the creative process of putting known things together into new and more useful combinations. Analysis refers to the process of predicting the performance or behavior of a design candidate. Evaluation is the process of performance calculation and comparing the predicted performance of each feasible design candidate to determine the deficiencies. A design process requires both integration and iteration. There is an interrelationship between synthesis, analysis, and evaluation. Two main groups of design activities are: 1.



Fig. 1.2 UAV design process block diagram

Problem solving through mathematical calculations; 2. Choosing a preferred one among alternatives.

In general, design considerations are the full range of attributes and characteristics that could be exhibited by an engineered system, product, or structure. These interest both the producer and the customer. Design-dependent parameters are attributes and/or characteristics inherent in the design to be predicted or estimated (e.g., weight, design life, reliability, producibility, maintainability, and disposability). These are a subset of the design considerations for which the producer is primarily responsible. On the other hand, design-independent parameters are factors external to the design that must be estimated and forecasted for use in design evaluation (e.g., fuel cost per gallon, interest rates, labor rates, and material cost per pound). These depend upon the production and operating environment of the UAV.

A goal statement is a brief, general, and ideal response to the need statement. The objectives are quantifiable expectations of performance which identify those performance characteristics of a design that are of most interest to the customer. Restrictions of function of form are called constraints; they limit our freedom to design.

#### 1.8 Systems Engineering Approach

Complex UAV systems, due to the high cost and the risks associated with their development become a prime candidate for the adoption of systems engineering methodologies. The UAV conceptual design process has been documented in many texts, and the interdisciplinary nature of the system is immediately apparent. A successful configuration designer needs not only a good understanding of design, but also systems engineering approach. A competitive configuration design manager must have a clear idea of the concepts, methodologies, models, and tools needed to understand and apply systems engineering to UAV systems.

The design of a UAV begins with the requirements definition and extends through functional analysis and allocation, design synthesis and evaluation, and finally validation. An optimized UAV, with a minimum of undesirable side effects, requires the application of an integrated life-cycle oriented "system" approach. The design of the configuration for